
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No.
18 U.S.C. j 19561)
18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)
18 U.S.C. j 1957
18 U.S.C. j 2
18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(1)

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

CART,OS M M ON POLIT FAG GIOM ,

Defendant.
/

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Juty charges that:

GENER AT, ALLEGATIONS

At a1l times relevant to this lndictment, unless otherwise specified:

RELEVANT INDIW DUALS AND ENTITIES

CARLOS RAM ON POLIT FAG GIONI was a dtizen of Ecuador and served as

the comptroller general (çlcomptroller'') of Ecuador f'rom in or arotmd 2007 to 2017 (Gtthe relevant

period'').

Ecuador ereated the oftk e of comptroller to prevent fraud and com ption relating

to the use of Ecuador's public funds. The comptroller had the power to initiate investigations, to

impose fines, and to prepare reports relating to the m isuse of public ftmds.

Co-conspirator 1, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, w as a

relative of CARIUO S RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI. Co-conspirator 1 resided in the Southem

District of Florida.
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Co-conspirator controlled a num ber of companies,incorporated in Flodda,

including among Others, Florida Company 1 through Flodda Company 14 (together, the tTlorida

Companies''). The Florida Companies maintained banlc accounts in the Southern District of

Florida.

Intermediary Companies1, 2, and 3 (together, tlle tçlntermediary Companiesh')

m aintained bank accounts in Panama.

Odebrecht S.A . was a Brazilian holding com pany that, through its subsidiades and

compnnies in wlzich it was a majority shareholder (collectively EEodebrecht''), conducted business

in multiple industries, including engineering, construction, infrastnlcture, energy, chemicals,

utilities, and real estate. Odebrecht had its headquM ers in Salvador, state of Bnhia, Brazil, and

operated in at least 27 other counkies, including Ecuador.

Co-conspirator 2, an individual whose identity is lmown to the Grand Jm'y, was a

senior manager at Odebrecht fw m approximately 2010 to 2016, whose regional responsibility

included Ecuador dtuing the relevant time period.

Seguros Sucre S.A. (CGseguros Sucre'') was the state-owned insttrance company of

Ecuador that was controlled by the government of Ecuador.

Co-conspirator 3, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, was an

Cctladorean businessperson.
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COUNT 1
Conspiracy to Com m it M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(h))

Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General AllegationsSection are re-alleged and

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

From in or around January 2010, continuing until at least M ay 2017, in the Southern

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT FAG GIOM ,

did knowingly and voluntarily combine, conspire, contkderate and agree with Co-conspirator 1,

Co-conspirator 2, Co-conspirator 3, and others, known and llnknown to the Grand Jury, to comm it

offenses under Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 and 1957, as follows:

to lcnowingly conduct a financial kansaction which involved the proceeds of

specified lmlawful activity, lcnowing that the property involved in the financial transaction

represented the proceeds of some fonn of lmlawful activity, and lcnowing that the t'ransaction was

designed, in whole and in part, to conceal and disguise the nature, location, sotlrce, ownership and

control of the proceeds of said specifed llnlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B);

to knowingly transport, transmit, and transfer, and attempt to t'ransport, transmit,

and transfer, a monetary instnzm ent and ftmds from a place in the Ullited States to and tllrough a

place outside the United States, and to a place in the United States from and tllrough a place outside

the United States, with the intent to promote the carlying on of specified tmlawful activity, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(A),' and

to knowingly engage in a monetary transaction by, through, and to a financial

institm ion, affecting interstate commerce in crim inally derived property of a value greater than
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$10,000 that is derived from specified unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1957.

lt is f'urther alleged that the specified tmlawful activity is an offense against a foreign

nation, specifically Ecuador, involving bribery of a public official, and the misappropriation, theft

and embezzlement of public funds by and for the benest of a public ofscial, as provided by

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv).

PURPOSE OF TH E CONSPIRACY

It was the purpose of the conspiracy for CARI,OS R AM ON POLIT FAGGIONI

and Co-conspirator 1 to unlawfully enrich themselves by laundering bribes that CARI,OS

RAM ON POLIT FAG GIOM  solicited and received from Co-conspirators 2 and 3, am ong

others, into and through bnnk accounts in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, as well

as through the purchase of real estate and other assets in South Florida and elsewhere.

M ANNER AND M EAN S OF THE CONSPIM CY

The mnnner and means by wllich CARLOS RAM ON POLIT FAGG IONI and his co-

conspirators sought to accomplish the purpose of the conspiracy included, among other things, the

following conduct in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere:

Beginning in or arotmd 2010, and continuing tmtil at least 2014, CARI,OS

RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI solicited and received bribe payments from Co-conspirator 2 in

exchange for using his oftkial position and influence as comptroller of Ecuador to prevent the

imposition of large 'fines on Odebrecht by the comptroller's office relating to Odebrecht' s

constnzction projects in Ecuador.

From in or arotmd 2010 to 2014, Co-conspirator 2 paid approximately $8 million

in cash bribes to CARLO S M M ON PO LIT FAG GIONI in exehange for using his official
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position as comptroller to influence official actions by the Ecuador comptroller's office in order

to benefit Odebrecht alzd its business in Ecuador. In furtherance of the scheme, CARI,OS

RAM ON POLIT FAGGIOM  told Co-conspiratorz that POLIT used Co-conspirator 1 to make

the cash Gldisappear.''

6. From in or around 2010, and continuing tmtil at least 2017, at the direction of

CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI, Co-conspirator 1 caused the proceeds of CARI,OS

RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI'S bribery schemes to iEdisappear'' by (a) registering the Florida

Compnnies in Florida in the nnmes of associates of Co-conspirator 1 (often without the associates'

knowledge); (b) using funds received from CARLOS M MON POLIT FAGGIONI'S bribery

schemes to ptlrchase and renovate real estate in South Florida and elsewhere and to ptlrchase

restaurants, a dty cleaner, and other businesses; and (c) causing these real estate assets and other

businesses to be held in the name of the Florida Companies to conceal that these assets were for

the benefit of CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI and his relatives.

In or around 2013 and 2014, CARLOS M M ON POLIT FAG GIOM  provided

cash to Co-conspirator 3 in Ecuador and caused Co-conspirator 3 to wire transfer funds to

accounts in South Florida controlled by Co-conspirator 1, as directed by CART,OS RAM ON

POLIT FAG GIONI.

8. In or around 2014, Co-conspirator 2 requested that CARI,OS R AM ON POLIT

FAGGIOM  accept bribe payments from Odebrecht through bnnk wire transfers rather than in

cash and requested that CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI provide bnnk accotmt wiring

instructions to facilitate m aking bribe paym ents.

5
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In or around 2014, Co-conspirator 1 provided CARLOS RAM ON POLIT

FAGGIOM  with bank account wiring information for accotmts of Intermedimy Companies 1, 2,

and 3 in Panam a.

10. From  in or arotmd April to November 2014, CARLOS RAM ON POLIT

FAGGIONI caused Odebrecht to make at least tlu'ee million dollars irl bribe payments for the

benefit of CARI,OS M M ON POLIT FAGGIONI by wire transfer to accotpts in Panama of

Intermediary Companies 1, 2 and 3. By causing these international wire transfers, for wllich

payment cleared through U.S. correspondent banks, Odebrecht, CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT

FAGGIONI, and others promoted the tmlawful scheme to bribe CARLOS RAM ON POLIT

FAGGIONI to influence official actions of the Ecuadorean comptroller's office.

From in or arotmd Jtme 2014 through M arch 2016, CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT

FAGGIONI caused Co-conspirator 1 and Intermediary Companies 1, 2 and 3 to wire transfer

millions of dollrs in ftmds from aocotmts in Panama to an account of Florida Company 1 at a

bnnk in South Florida and subsequently to other accounts, including accounts of other Florida

Companies, for the purchase of assets in South Florida and elsewhere for the benefit of CARI,OS

RAM ON POLIT FAGGIOM  and his relatives.

ln or around 2015, CARLO S RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI solicited and agreed

to reeeive a bribe of approximately $500,000 from Co-conspirator 3 in exohange for using llis

oftkial position and influence as comptroller to assist Co-conspirator 3 in obtaining contracts

9om Seguros Sucre that benefitted Co-conspirator 3's company.

CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIOM  directed Co-conspirator 3 to coordinate

the paym ent of the bribe with Co-conspirator 1.

6
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CARI,O S RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI and Co-conspirator 1 caused Co-

Conspirator 3 to wire transfer tlte bribe payment of approximately $510,000 to an accotmt of

Florida Company 2 in South Florida on Or about December 2, 2015, for the benefit CART,OS

RAM ON POLIT FAGGIOM  and llis relatives. Co-conspirator 1 caused the issuance of a fake

invoice for purported çttechnical advice'' in connection with this payment.

From in or around 2014 through in or around 2015, CARI,OS M M ON POLIT

FAG GIOM  and Co-conspirator 1 caused funds derived from  the bribes CARI,OS RAM ON

POLIT FA GGIONI received from  Odebrecht and Co-conspirator 3 to be used to upgrade a

luxury residence in Coral Gables held in the name of Florida Company 4 and sold in 2017 for $4.1

million for the benefit of CARLOS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI and his relatives.

16. In or arotmd M ay 2016, CARLOS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI and Co-

Conspirator 1 caused funds derived from bribes CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI

received from Odebrecht to be used to ptlrchase an office building in Coral Gables for $2.6 million,

held in the nnme of Florida Company 5 for the benefit of CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT

FAGGIONI and his relatives.

A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

COUNTS 2 - 4
M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(B)(i))

Paragraphs 1 tllrough 9 of the General Allegations Sedion and paragraphs 1

through 16 of Count 1 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

2. On or about the dates set forth in each cotmt below, in the Southern District of

Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI,
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conducted, and aided and abetted, and caused to be conducted, and attem pted to conduct, a

financial transaction involving the proceeds of specified ulzlawftzl activil, lcnowing that the

property involved represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, and lcnowing that

the transaction was designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature, source,

ownership, and control of the proceeds of the specised unlawful activity, that is, an offense against

a foreign nation, specifically Ecuador, involving bribezy

misappropriation, theft and embezzlement of public fllnds by and for the benefit of a public

public official, and the

official, ptlrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv):

: %  . , ' : . ' .
Uqunt , Apprpiimqte D .

ate Descripdop pf 'lrrqpsactiop
. . . ( . ' . , ' ' 4) . .. : . - . . . ' 7 ' . . ' ' ' . . r'

2 December 2, 2015 Check of approximately $300,000 from an account of
Florida Company 2 in the Southern Disvct of Florida to
an accotmt of Florida Company 3 in the Southel.n DisG ct
of Florida

3 M arch 22, 2016 Transfer of approximately $3,453,184 9om an account of
Interm ediaty Com pany 3 in Panam a to an account of
Florida Company 1 in the Southem District of Florida

4 October 7, 2016 Transfer of approximately $34,300 from an account of
lnterm ediary Company 1 in Pannm a to an accotmt of
Florida Company 1 in the Southern District of Florida

A11 i.n violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.

COUNTS 5-6
Engaging in Transactions in Crim inally Derived Property

(18 U.S.C. j 1957)

Paragraphs 1 tllrough 9 of the General Allegations Section and paragraphs 1

through 16 of Cotmt 1 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set fot'th herein.

On or about the dates set forth in each count below, in the Southern District of

Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

CARI,O S R AM ON POLIT FAG GIOM ,

8
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did knowingly engage in, and aid, abet, and cause others to engage in, and attempt to engage in, a

monetary t'ransaction Afecting interstate com merce, by, through, and to a financial instimtion, in

criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, such property having been derived

from a specified tmlawful activity, alld knowing that theproperty involved in the financial

transaction represented the proceeds of some form of llnlawf'ul activity, that is an offense against

a foreign nation, specifically Ecuador, involving bribery of a public official, and the

misappropriation, theft and embezzlement of public funds by and for the benefh of a public

official, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv):

Coupt Appçoylmate D#è. Descriptj on df. Tr>nsadiop
. .

' ' 
, . . . . - è -

5 May 27, 2016 Transfer of approximately $1,375,450 from Florida
Company 1's accotmt in South Florida to an escrow
account for the purchase of an office building located at
1902 SW  22 Street in Miami, Florida

6 April 28, 2017 Transfer of approximately $3,664,583.61 âom an attorney
escrow account in South Flodda to the account of Florida
Company 4 in South Florida for the sale of the property
located at 7233 Los Pinos Boulevard in Coral Gables,
Florida

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2.

FORFEITURE
(18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(1))

The allegations of this lndictment are re-alleged and by this reference fully

incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of Am ericà of certain

property in which the defendant, CARI,OS RAM ON POLIT FAGGIOM , has an interest.

Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 or

1957, as alleged this Indictment, the defendant, CARLO S RAM ON POLIT FAGGIONI, shall

9

Case 1:22-cr-20114-KMW   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/25/2022   Page 9 of 13



forfeit to the United States any property, real or personal, involved in such offense, or any property

t'raceable to such property, ptlrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1).

The property subject to forfeiture as a result of the alleged offenses includes, but is

not limited to, the following:

a. Real property located at 1902 SW  22 S'treet, M iami, Florida 33145;

b. Real property located at 301 Altara Ave, Unit 702, M inmi, Florida 33146; and

c. Real property located at 1010-30 NW  9th Ct, M inm i, Florida 33136.

If any of the propeo  described above as being subject to forfeitlzre, as a result of

any act or om ission of the defendant'.

a.

b.

C.

d.

e.

cnnnot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

has been placed beyond the jtlrisdiction of the Courq

has been substantially diminished in value; or

has been commingled with other property that cannot be divided without

difficulty;

the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property, under the provisions of

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853û$.
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All ptlrsuant to Title 18, Uzzited States Code, Section 982(a)(1), and the pzoceduzes set forth

in Title 21, United States Code,Section 853, as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code,

982(b)(1).

A TRIJE

FO

JU ANTO O GONZM EZ
ITED STA S ATTORNEY

&

Tv JOSEPH BEEM STERBOER
ACTING CHIEF, FRAUD SECTION
CRIM INAL DIVISION

c

W . .
*'' M ichael N

. Berger
Assistant United States Attorney

+ ,f. .
G  Jill Simon

Alexander Kzamer
Tdal Attorney
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. 'ï ' . . . .. . 1. z,,r.l : i.

TED STATES OF. A RI.CA. ,j',. . . . : v

v '

CARLOS RAMON POLIT FAGGIONI.
1
1 -
e* ). * ;

Defendant. /

Division: (Selectone) New defendantts) I--I Yes U-I Nocourt
I-lz Miami N Key West N FTL Numberof newdefendants
I-IWPB N FTP Totalnumberofcotmts

1. I have cqçfully considerçd the allegations of the indictment, the nllmber of defendants, the number of probable
witnesses :and the legal complexities of the Indictment/lnfolmation attachedhereto.

2. I nm aFpm #. '.at the ipfolvation supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Court in
setting tke'ir ca'lendars' and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act,

Title 28 U.S.C. Sèction 3J61.. .r . r . ' ..)id'r ' (Yes or *p' ) Yes 1--1*3
. lnterpys q . . ,

List language'M d/ordialect Spanish
k ' ' 1 1 days for the pmies to try.4. This c ke willrtake

5. Please checlcappropriate category and type of offense listedbelow:
(Chèpk Qly one) (Check only one)

I 0 to 5 days EI Petty E1
11 6 to t1'0 dpys . 2. ' E1 Minor ID
1I1 1 1 tp.20 days '2:'t. : . .' ' n.z Misdemeanor ID
IV 21.10 60 days EI Felony (71
V 61 xlavs iahd'over ': ' Z
6. Has thiscase prèviously been filed i.n this District Court? (Yes or No) No E.T.71VI
If es':'zlYdtè ' ''' ' Case No.y
(Attach.copy of disposiéve order)
Has a complaint been filed in this matler? (Yes or No) 1771+
lf yes: Makiskate Cam No.

. '''''' ' '

Related miscellaneotls mlmbers:

Defendanttsl.in federal custody as of

CASENO.

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY.
Superseding Case lnformation:

Defendanttg) in state.custody as of
Rule 20 from the District of

ls this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No)
7. Does thistcase originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attomey's Office prior to
August 9, 20l3.(Mag. Judge Alicia 0. Valle)? (Yes or No) No C-1:v'

8. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office priorto
August 8, 2014. (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard? (Yes or No) No 1D.'+:'

9. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior to
October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss)? (Yes or No) No r'WI

*penalty Sheetts) attachd

Michael N. Berger

Assistant United States Attorney ZV'
Court ID No. A5501557

REV 3/1 9/2 1
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: CART,OS R AM ON POLIT FA GGIOM

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Comm it M onev Laundedn:

Title 18. United States Codes Section 1956(h)

* Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment

Cotmt #: 2-4

h4oney Laundeina

Title 18s United States Codes Sedion 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

* M ax. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment - -

Count #: 5-6

Etmaqin: in Transactions in Criminallv Derived Propertv

Title 18. United States Code. Section 1957

* Max. Pepalty: Ten (10) Years' lmprisonment

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitutiom
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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